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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

ROGER N. JONES,

Plaintiff,

VS. Case No. 19-01124-EFM

FAY SERVICING, LLC,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
Before the Court is Defendant Fay SemvigiLLC’s (“Fay”) Motion to Dismiss for Failure
to State a Claim (Doc. 8). Jones alleges thgt@ated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(“FDCPA"), the Real Estate Settlement Prasess Act (‘RESPA”), and the Kansas Consumer
Protection Act ("KCPA”) in its servicing of imortgage loan. Fay now moves the Court to
dismiss all counts, arguing thadbnes has failed to state a oiaior relief. For the following

reasons, the Court grariay’s motion to dismiss.
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l. Factual and Procedural Background

In 1993, Jones obtained a loan secured by agaget against his house located in Viola,
Kansas. Fay—a Delaware LLCtharized to do business in Ksas—began servicing Jones’
mortgage on July 1, 2017, at which time Jowas current on his loapbligations. Beginning
with his payment due in July 2017, Jones paid amounts in addition to the $542.74 mortgage
payment owed to Fay. Jones asked that Fay &pbdditional payments to the principal balance
on the mortgage loan. Fay hdlieese additional payments in “pense” before applying them to
the loan as directed. Jones continued to naaldtional payments on his mortgage in August,
September, and December 2017, as well as Jarkgbylary, March, April, May, June, and July
2018. The total amount of Jones’ additional payments equaled $2,000. By holding Jones’
additional payments in “suspense” rather thpplyng them to the loan on the date it received
them, Fay caused Jones to accrue greatagesitexpense than he otherwise would have.

Fay sent Jones a statement in May 2018 that indicated he owed $13,339.56 in “Total Fee
Charges” in addition to his regul mortgage payment. Thisaggment contained no explanation
of what the fees resulted frondones received no other separatganation of these fees. Jones
contacted Fay to inquire about tfees but received no furtheracification or explanation. Fay
continued to send Jones statemattsmpting to collect the “Tat Fee Charges,” including them
on his mortgage statements from June 2018 through January 2019.

On December 3, 2018, Jones’ counsel sent Fay a qualified written request (“QWR”)
notifying Fay of Jones’ disagreenteregarding his additional paymts being held in suspense,

Fay's purchase of “Forced Place Insurancentl &ay’s lack of exp@lnation concerning the

! The facts are taken from Jones’ complaint andcansidered true for the purposes of this motion.
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$13,339.56 in fees. Fay replied to Jones directigyiming him that it planned to respond to his
QWR within 30 days. On December 20, Jonemirssel sent Fay another letter asking Fay to
correct the aforementioned disagrests with Jones’ account. yFdid not respond to this letter,

but on January 24, 2019, it sent another letter diréztlpnes indicating that it needed more time
to research the alleged errors. BEebruary 25, Fay directly sertnks a letter alleging that he was
delinquent on his mortgage payments. Three thtgs, on February 28, falirectly sent Jones

its response to the QWR froDecember 3. Jones received both the delinquency notice and
response to the QWR on March 3.

In its response to Jones’ RVFay addressed the following @@nmns. It confirmed that it
investigated the source of the $13,339.56 in fa®$ could not determine where the original
servicer had derived that amount. As a result, waiyed those fees in ¢ir entirety. Fay also
explained its reasoning for buying réed Place Insurance, indigai that it had warned Jones
twice of the need for hazard insurance covergigfe no response. Howeneafter subsequently
learning that Jones purchased adequate hazardmtsy Fay canceled therEed Place Insurance,
received a full refund for the premiums paid, ahdrged Jones no fees for those transactions.

Finally, Fay explained its process of adosp un-earmarked additional payments. It
applied Jones’ additional payments to his principal only if he directly specified that arrangement.
Otherwise, Fay held additional payments irswspense account until the suspense account
accumulated enough funds to cover the cost wioathly payment, at which time Fay applied
those monies to any accrued net&t, then to principal. Fagxplained its position that Jones
directed only the January and May 2018 additional gagato apply to the principal, whereas the

February to April 2018 additional paents lacked the necessargtmictions and were therefore



held in suspense. Fay alsoenbthat it received additional yaents in January 2019, which it
applied to Jones’ principal as directed.

Jones filed this lawsuit on May 10, 2019, allegthat Fay violated the FDCPA (Counts |
II, and 1ll), RESPA (Counts IVrad V), and KCPA (Counts VI and VII) in its servicing of Jones’
mortgage’. Fay now moves to dismiss Jones’ conldor failure to state a claim. Jones
additionally asks for leave to amend his comgldithe Court grants Fay’s motion to dismiss.

Il. Legal Standard

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a defendant may mdoe dismissal of any claim for which the
plaintiff has failed tcstate a claim upon which relief can be graritédpon such motion, the court
must decide “whether the complagantains ‘enough facts to state aini to relief that is plausible
on its face.” * A claim is facially plausible if the plaiiff pleads facts sufficient for the court to
reasonably infer that the defendant is liable for the alleged miscondinet.plausibility standard
reflects the requirement in Rule 8 that pleadipigs/ide defendants with ifanotice of the nature
of claims as well the grounds on which each claim fedtsxder Rule 12(b)(6), the court must
accept as true all factual allegations in the complaut need not afford such a presumption to

legal conclusion$. Viewing the complaint in this manner, the court must decide whether the

2 The Court has jurisdiction over this case under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331 & 1367(a).

3 Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

4 Ridge at Red Hawk, LLC v. Schneidé®3 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007) (quotigl Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007gee also Ashcroft v. Igha@56 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

51gbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citingfwombly 550 U.S. at 556).

6 See Robbins v. Oklahon&19 F.3d 1242, 1248 (10th Cir. 2008) (citations omittse; alsd~ed. R. Civ.
P. 8(a)(2).

"Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.



plaintiff's allegations give rise to more than speculative possibifitiésthe allegations in the
complaint are “so general that they encompasgia sivath of conduct, much of it innocent, then
the plaintiffs ‘have not nudged their claims asrtise line from conceivable to plausible’’ ”

lll.  Analysis
A. Counts I-lll: FDCPA

In his first three claimsJones alleges that Fay viadtthe FDCPA by communicating
directly with Jones rather than Jones’ counbgl making false represetions concerning the
$13,339.56 in fees, and by making false repretentaregarding Jones’ loan delinquendyay
asks the Court to dismiss these claims, argthagthe FDCPA does napply to Fay because it
is not a “debt co#ictor” under the act.

The FDCPA was enacted to elimiaatbusive debt collection practicdsTo do so, the
FDCPA regulates interactions betweamsumer debtors and “debt collectots.” The FDCPA
does not “prohibit a debt collector from meretiempting to collect on a debt. Nor are threats to
take legal action or to report a debtor to credincies actionable, unless the action threatened

cannot legally be taken, is nmtended to be take or involves the aonmunication of false

information.’?

8 See id.(“The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more than a
sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” (citation omitted)).

9 Robbins 519 F.3d at 1247 (quotingvombly 550 U.S. at 570).
10 Jerman v. Carlisle, McNellie, Rii Kramer & Ulrich, L.P.A, 559 U.S. 573, 577 (2010).
d.

2] acey v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLZD14 WL 2885471, at *2 (D. Kan. 2014) (citid¢hayne v. United
States Dep't of Educ915 F. Supp. 1143, 1145 (D. Kan. 1996)).



To present a claim under the FDCPA, the claimaust show that the monetary obligation
in dispute is a “debt” and that the entigllecting the debt is a “debt collectd?.” The FDCPA
defines a “debt collector” as “any person who uses any instrumentality of interstate commerce or
the mails in any business the mipal purpose of which is the ltection of any debts, or who
regularly collects or attempts tollaxt, directly or indirectly, debtswed or due oasserted to be
owed or due anothet? The statute creates multiple exceptions for the term “debt colléétor.”
Under the FDCPA, the “term ‘déloollector’ . . . does not include. . any person collecting or
attempting to collect any debt owed or due or asddd be owed or due another to the extent such
activity . . . concerns a debt which was not in default at the time it was obtained by such
person ... ¥ The Tenth Circuit has confirmed thiis exception applies to mortgage loan
servicers-’

A servicing company is subject to the FDCPwever, if the loan was in default at the
time the servicer acquired'ft. The FDCPA does not define the term “defaliit.Without clarity

from Congress, the determination of whether a @elt default is tdoe made by the court on a

¥ Mondonedo v. Sallie Mae In@009 WL 801784, at *3 (D. Kan. 200%ge alsd5 U.S.C. § 1692.
1415 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).

15Seeid.

1615 U.S.C. §1692a(6)(F)(iii).

17 Obduskey v. Wells Farg879 F.3d 1216, 1219 (10th Cir. 2018 d sub nomObduskey v. McCarthy &
Holthus LLP 139 S. Ct. 1029 (2019).

18 Mondonedo2009 WL 801784, at *3.

¥ Head v Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLZD15 WL 4276148, at *4 (D. Kan. 2015) (citiSgmmons v. Med—I—
Claims 2007 WL 486879, at *7 (C.D. lll. 2007) (“Unfortunately, the FDCPA does not define so key a term as
‘default.” . .. [W]here there is no relevant contractual provision . . . between the debtor and the reditor
governing regulation, courts have struggled to establish when a debt is in defgultfoses of . . . determining
whether a party is a debt collector under the FDCPA.")).



case-by-case bagis. Any applicable contragtl or regulatory languagéat defines a point of
default may be instructivé. But language in a servicing compaspotice that states that an entity
is a debt collector or is coltéing the recipient’s debt is lsvant—but not sufficient—evidence
that the servicing company is agfat collector” subject to the FDCPA.

The Court concludes that Jortess failed to state a facialpfausible claim that Fay is a
“debt collector” governed by the KIFPA. Jones argues that thertgage was in default at the
time Fay acquired it and that Fay treated it @ s he facts do no support this conclusion though.
First, contrary to his present argument conegyrihis motion, Jones admitted in his complaint
that the mortgage was not in default at theetiray became the servicer. Second, Fay sent Jones
no notice of default afteacquiring the mortgage. Hact, in the oldest mortgage statement Jones
attached as an exhibit to hisaplaint (dated November 25, 201Fay clearly indicated that Jones
was current on his loan obligations. This staeta-which is dated well after Fay acquired the
mortgage—lists both “Overdue Payments” anatal Fees Charged” as $0.00. This statement
also includes Jones’ payment history for thecpding three months, none of which list additional
charges or overdue payments. Jones’ complashettached exhibits show that the first time Fay
declared Jones to be overdue on his payments was on February 25, 2019.

Jones further argues that Haya “debt collector” under tHeEDCPA because it calls itself
such in boilerplate language at the bottormahy pieces of correspondence. Although Fay does

include disclaimers that “[it] is a debt collectand any information you provide will be used for

20 Head 2015 WL 4276148, at *4 (citinGhurch v. Accretive Health, Inc2014 WL 7184340, at *3 (S.D.
Ala. 2014) (quotindKapsis v. Am. Home Mortg. Servicing @23 F. Supp. 2d 430, 440 (E.D.N.Y. 2013))).

2d.

22 See Maynard v. Cannpa01 F. App’x 389, 395 (10th Cir. 2010).



that purpose. . .” courts have held that sboterplate language does not estop defendants from
denying they are debt collectorssgeecifically defiied by the FDCPA2 Rather, the Court should
“consider the disclaimer in the totgliof facts of each particular casé.”Here, all of the above-
mentioned facts pled in the complaint and itaa@tments thoroughly indicate that Jones’ mortgage
was not in default at the time Fay acquired it. €Fame, as a loan servicer that acquired a loan
not in default, Fay is not subjago the FDCPA. As such, the Court grants Fay’s motion to dismiss
Counts I, 11, and 111

B. Counts IV & V: RESPA

Jones alleges in Count IV that Fay wi@d RESPA by failing to respond to his QWR
within the appropriaterie period. Fay moves to dismiss tbiint, arguing thatones has failed
to allege actual damages resultfrgm the delayed response to the QWR.

Congress enacted RESPA “to regulate retdtessettlement processes” including loan
servicing?® It requires mortgagéan servicers to timely respond to a borrower's QWR by
acknowledging receipt of the QWR, conductingiavestigation, and then providing a written
statement of the reasons it believes its aciogns correct, or alternatively providing the
information requested by the borroviérlf the loan servicer failo comply with these statutory

mandates, the borrower may recover actual damages resulting from the?faltuthis case, Fay

22 Hooks v. Forman Holt Eliades & Ravin LL.2015 WL 5333513, at *12 (S.D.N.Y. 2015) (“The mere use
of a ‘debt collector’ disclaimer [does not] automatically transform[] a person into a dielst@ofor purposes of the
FDCPA.") (citing Alibrandi v. Fin. Outsourcing Svs., In&33 F.3d 82, 87 (2d Cir. 2003)).

241d; see also Head2015 WL 4276148, at *4.

25 Berneike v. CitiMortgage, Inc708 F.3d 1141, 1145, 1148 (10th Cir. 2013).

2612 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(A), (2).

2712 U.S.C. § 2605(f).



had a total of 45 days (excluding weekends ariddugs) to acknowledgeeceipt of Jones’ QWR,
investigate its allegationand substantively respoid.

“RESPA provides only for actual damagesnsining from a violation of ‘any provision’
of § 2605 and statutory damages arising frarpattern or practice of violation®” “Thus, to
survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)66RESPA plaintiff musallege actual damages
arising from a RESPA violation,” a pattern or practice of violatioA%.“[L]itigation expenses
and attorney’s fees can't be actual damages be&SPA separately allows successful plaintiffs
to recover such fees and expeniseaddition to actual damage$.”

Jones’ allegations—which the Court accepts as true for the purposes of this motion—are
that Fay failed to timely respond to his QWR. Fay was required to respond to the QWR no later
than February 15, 2019. It failed to meet theadline, instead responding on February 28. Jones
claims that he suffered actual damages as a regtisdf3-day delay. However, he fails to allege
any facts indicating what those damages are. @Rdthhis response, Jaargues that his damages
included emotional distress and attorney fees.

Importantly, Jones alleges no actual damsageectly stemming from Fay’s delayed

response to the QWR—the RESPA witbn asserted in Jones’ clairRather, in his response to

28612 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2); 12 CEE.§ 1024.35(e)(3)(i)(C), ().

29 Morgan v. Carrington Mortg. Serys719 F. App'x 735, 744 (10th Cir. 2017) (quoting 12 U.S.C. §
2605(f)(1)(A-B)).

0)d.

31 Fowler v. Bank of Am., Corp747 F. App’x 666, 670 (10th Cir. 2018) (internal citations, quotation, and
empasis omitted)see also Morgan719 F. App’x at 744 (affirming dismissal, stating “[Plaintiff] made only the
conclusory allegation that she suffefrddmages for economic harm, pain and suffering, severe stress and emotional
distress.’ These are legal labels, not factual allegatior@djlen v. PNC Banib99 F. App’'x 331, 332 (10th Cir.
2015).



Fay’s motion, Jones notes that, in regard to hi®KClaims, he alleges that he suffered emotional
distress from Fay’s attempts to collect $13,339.56riexplained fees. However, the relevant
inquiry here is not whethepdes suffered emotional distredsany time but whether he suffered
emotional distress or other actual damagesming fronfray’s delay in responding to the QWR.
He alleges no such damages. Furthermore, Joie$ofallege that Fay has a pattern or practice
of violating RESPA. Jones oniyientions a single occurrencefedy’s untimely response to the
QWR. The Court does not considare untimely response a patt@mpractice. Therefore, the
Court concludes that Jones has failed to alrjeal damages stemming from Fay’s 13-day delay
in responding to the QWR.

In Count IV, Jones argues that can recover attoeg fees associated with Fay’s delay in
responding to the QWR. This argumewntadicts established Tenth Circuit 1&v. Under
RESPA, plaintiffs can only recover attorney feeaddlition to actual damages. In the absence of
actual damages resulting from Fay’s delay, Joneaatarecover attmey fees. As a result, the
Court concludes that Jones has failed to alledacially plausible claim for actual damages
resulting from Fay’s delayed response to @\WWR and cannot otherwisedependently recover
attorney fees.

In Count V, Jones alleges that Fay viethiRESPA by failing to properly credit Jones’
mortgage loan account as of thate additional payments werecegved. He alleges that this
caused him to incur unnecessariemest expense on the loan thenotherwise would have had

his additional payments been applied to the mgedaan principal. Baargues that RESPA itself

does not substantively requitdo credit mortgage accounts in the manner Jones’ advocates.

32 See Fowler747 F. App’x at 670.
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“RESPA does not require tlservicer to provide information the borrower believes to be
accurate.®® Instead, RESPA simply “requires the seevito provide ‘a statement of the reasons
for which the servicer believes thecount of the borrowés correct as deterimed by the servicer’
and the information requested by the borrowér.”

Jones disputes the reasons and informatiowiged in Fay’s response to the QWR. But
in order to comply with RESPA, Fay need not pdaviones with reasons and information that he
finds agreeable, but rather “aftesnducting an investigation” fanust give “reasons for which
[Fay] believes [Jones’ account] ¢®rrect as determined by [Fay],” as well as any “information
requested by [Jones] . 22”In Count V, Jones is asking t@eurt to acknowledge a cause of action
that does not exist in RESPA. Even if the Cdibdrally construes Jones’ complaint to assert a
proper claim under RESPA—for instance, alleging Heat failed to investigate Jones’ account or
provide the requested reasonsimformation—the alleged factsould not support that claim.
Jones attached Fay’s response to the QWR todmgplaint, and that sponse clearly indicated
that Fay investigated Jonesaths and provided meaningful reas for its actions. While Jones
may disagree with those actions, it is not up to this Court to fashion a remedy for that
disagreement—certainly not under RESPA as Joaé@snsl As a result, the Court dismisses Count

V for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

33 Brunson v. Provident Funding Assq@&08 F. App’x 602, 612 (10th Cir. 2015).
341d. (citing 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2)(B), (C)).
3512 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2)(B), (C).
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C. Counts VI & VII: KCPA

Jones’ final two claims allege that Fay ege@a in deceptive practices in violation of the
KCPA by “attempt[ing] to collect $13,339.56 in fe#st it was admittedly unable to validate.”
The KCPA prohibits suppliers from engagingdieceptive and unconscionable acts and practices
in connection with “consmer transaction[s]*® For the period of time relevant to the facts pled
in this case, the KCPA defined “Supplier” as:

[A] manufacturer, distributorgealer, seller, lessor, assignor, or other person who,

in the ordinary course of business)igts, engages in or enforces consumer

transactions, whether oot dealing directlyith the consumeiSupplier does not

include any bank, trust company or lendingtitution which is subject to state or

federal regulation with regar to disposition of repossessed collateral by such
bank, trust company or lending institutidh

Effective July 1, 2019, the Kansas legislature améride definition of “supplier” to delete the
sentence italicized above—commonly refeti@ds the “regulatedntity exclusion.”

“The general rule of statutory constructiothiat a statute will operate prospectively unless
its language clearly indicatesaththe legislature intended thit operate r&ospectively.8®
However, courts modify the general rule of staty construction where ¢hstatutory change is
“merely procedural or remedial in nature and duosprejudicially affect the substantive rights of

the parties® “[W]hen a change of law merely affe¢tse remedy or law of pcedure, all rights

%6 K.S.A. 88 50-626, 50-627.
STK.S.A. § 50-624(l) (until June 30, 2019) (emphasis added).

38 Halley v. Barnabg271 Kan. 652, 24 P.3d 140, 144 (2001) (cifdayis v. Hughes229 Kan. 91, 622 P.2d
641, 650 (1981)).

39 Davis, 922 P.2d at 650.
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of action will be enforced under the new proceduitbout regard to whéer or not the suit has
been instituted, unless there is a sgsiclause as to existing litigatiof?.”

Jones argues that the Court should apipdyamendment retroactively to encompass the
facts of this case. The Court tiees to do so. The legislatuded not clearly mdicate that the
July 2019 amendments should operate retroactivelyachthe relevant Kansas Session Laws, as
well as at least one court, has stated that the amendment is prospectite Eunfhermore, the
2019 amendments to the KCPA did not modify eitherremedial or prockiral provisions of the
statute’? As a result, the Court concludes thatK@PA definition of “supplier” that governs the
facts of this case is the one thats in effect prior to July 2019.

In its motion to dismiss, Fay argues tias not a “supplier” under the pre-amendment
definition because it meets the regulated engixglusion as a “lending institution.” As a
preliminary matter, the Court takes judicial wetiof the public recordmdicating that Fay is
licensed and regulated by the Kansas Office of the State Bank Commis3idtar.argues that
this proves that it is a “lending institution which is subject to state or federal regulation” and
therefore not a “supier” under the KCPA.

Jones disagrees, arguing that Fay’s positioa a®rtgage loan servicer does not fit the
remaining clause in the pre-amendment statudefinition of “supplier.” The relevant portion of

the definition reads: “Supplier does not inclualey bank, trust company or lending institution

401d.

412019 Kan. Laws Ch. 66, § 13ge also Schneider v. CitiMortgage, .lndo. 2019 WL 3731909, at *1 (D.
Kan. 2019).

42 SeeK.S.A. §§ 50-634, 50-636, & 50-638 (July 2019).

43 A court can “take judicial notice of its own files armtords, as well as facts which are a matter of public
record.”Tal v. Hogan 453 F.3d 1244, 1264 n.24 (10th Cir. 2006) (internal citations omitted).
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which is subject to stator federal regulatiowith regard to disposition of repossessed collateral
by such bank, trust compg or lending institution® Fay admittedly is not subject to state
regulation with regard to the disposition of repossessed collateral in Jones’ particular case.
However, multiple courts in this jurisdictioand others have interpreted the pre-amendment
definition to include banks that are regulated by the state, regardless of whether the particular case
actually involves a disposition of repossessed collateralThis Court agrees with the
overwhelming authority on this issue.

Furthermore, while Fay is not a “bank” likeetdefendants in the cited persuasive authority,
Fay is a “lending institution” under the pre-amendment definition of supplier. The KCPA does
not specifically define “lendingnstitution,” but defines “lender” as “a bank, savings and loan
association, savings bank, credit union, finaooepany, mortgage bank, mortgage broker and
any affiliate.”*® The final modifier “and any affiliate$ufficiently expands “finance company,
mortgage bank, mortgage broked include a mortgage service company. Therefore, as a
mortgage service company, Fay meets the defmitif lending institution. Since Fay is also
licensed and regulated by the Kansas Office efSkate Bank Commissioner, it therefore meets
the regulated entity exclusion under the KCPA &gmrding institution which is subject to state
or federal regulation.” This means that Fapas a “supplier” under the KIEA. As a result, the

Court grants Fay’s motion to dismiss Counts VI and VII.

44 K.S.A. 8 50-624(l) (until June 30, 2019) (emphasis added).

4 In re Larkin 553 B.R. 428, 444 (Bankr. D. Kan. 2016) (“In every instance where a bank’s status as
‘supplier’ under the KCPA was directly before it, the Unitealt&t District Courts have held that regulated banks are
excluded from the definitiomggardless of whether the case actually we®b disposition of repossessed collateral.”);
see also Kalebaugh v. Cohen, McNelie & Papp&3, 76 F. Supp. 3d 1251, 1260 (D. Kan. 20Kgstner v. Intrust
Bank 2011 WL 721483, at *3 (D. Kan. 2011).

46 K.S.A. § 50-624(f).
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D. Jones’ Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint

Jones additionally asks the Court for leavarteend his complaint “to cure any claim” the
Court dismissed. A “party may amend its pleadonce as a matter of course” within 21 days
after serving it, or within21l days after service of a responsive pleading or a Rule 12
motion?’ Thereafter, “a party may amend its pleagi only with the opposing party’s written
consent or the court’s leav&Under Rule 15(a), leave to amend a complaint is freely given when
justice so requires. Rule 15irgended “to provide litigants ‘the maximum opportunity for each
claim to be decided on its meritgtrar than on procedural niceties’® "Courts may, however,
deny leave to amend based on “undakay, bad faith or dilatory niwe on the part of the movant,
repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amesatis previously allowd undue prejudice to the
opposing party by virtue of allowance ofetamendment, [or] futility of amendment.” “A
proposed amendment is futile if the complaintaaended, would be subject to dismissal for any
reason.? It is within theCourt’s sound discretiowhether to allow a proposed amendment after
the permissive periot.

The Court denies Jones’s motion for leave temanCounts I, 11, Ill, V, VI, and VII. No

additional factual allegations walitorrect the pleadings to thetemt that Fay would be subject

47 Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(1).
48 Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2).

49 Minter v. Prime Equip. Co451 F.3d 1196, 1204 (10th Cir. 2006) (quotitardin v. Manitowoc—Forsythe
Corp, 691 F.2d 449, 456 (10th Cir. 1982)).

501d. (quotingFoman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962)).

SIWatson ex rel. Watson v. Begk&t2 F.3d 1237, 1239-40 (10th Cir. 2001) (citiedferson Cty. Sch. Dist.
No. R—1 v. Moody’s Investor’s Servs., JicZ5 F.3d 848, 858-59 (10th Cir. 1999)).

52Foman 371 U.S. at 182Vilkerson v. Shinsek®06 F.3d 1256, 1267 (10th Cir. 2010).
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to either the FDCPA or KCPA. Because an agimeent pertaining to those counts would be futile,
the Court does not grardrdes leave to amend Counts I, II, 111,,\F VII. In Count V Jones asserts
a cause of action that does not exist under RES&R#y amendment to the allegations under that
claim would not change the nature of the lawtaiaing to RESPA actionsTherefore, the Court
denies Jones leave to amend Count V.

Lastly, the Court grants Jones leave to am@ouwint 1V of his complaint to include factual
allegations of actual damages. Jones must amend the complaint within 21 days of this Order or
else the Court will close the cas@o reiterate, Jones must assdigcrete allegations of actual
damages resulting from Fay’s dgla responding to the QWR.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant Fay Servicing, LLC’s Motion to
Dismiss for Failure to @&te a Claim (Doc. 8) GRANTED IN PART andDENIED IN PART.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 5th day of February, 2020.

ERIC F. MELGREN
WNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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